MICHAEL BEEDE, Esq. Nevada Bar No. 13068 ZACHARY CLAYTON, Esq. Nevada Bar No. 13464 Law Office of Michael Beede 2300 W. Sahara Ave. #420 Las Vegas, NV 89102

T: 702-473-8406 F: 702-832-0248 Electronically Filed Dec 23 2015 10:53 a.m. Tracie K. Lindeman Clerk of Supreme Court

IN THE SUPREME COURT OF THE STATE OF NEVADA

IN THE MATTER OF FREI IRREVOCABLE TRUST DATED OCTOBER 29, 1996.

STEPHEN BROCK

Appellant,

v.

PREMIER TRUST, INC.; LAWRENCE HOWE; AND ELIZABETH MARY FREI,

Respondents.

Supreme Court No. 68029 District Court Case No. P065257

APPELLANT'S OPENING BRIEF

ATTORNEY FOR THE APPELLANT

JURISDICTIONAL STATEMENT

This Court has Jurisdiction over this case based on a petition hearing that was decided on April 14, 2015. This hearing created a final appealable order pursuant to NRAP 3A(b)(1). Pursuant to NRAP 4(a)(1), Appellant's notice of appeal was due on May 14, 2015, and such notice was filed on May 14, 2015. Therefore, this case is properly before this Court and ripe for a decision.

STATEMENT OF THE ISSUES PRESENTED

- 1. Whether the death of a settlor eliminates the possibility of modification of an existing irrevocable trust.
- 2. Whether the elimination of a spendthrift provision in an irrevocable trust eliminates a material purpose of the trust.
- 3. Whether the trustee of an irrevocable trust has a fiduciary duty to object to, and oppose, a modification to the trust, including protecting a spendthrift provision of the trust.
- 4. Whether the good faith actions of a misinformed party fall outside the bounds of judicial estoppel doctrine.

STATEMENT OF THE CASE

The action below sought redress of payments made from Mr. Brock's share of the subject irrevocable trust in violation of the spendthrift provisions of said trust. Respondents advanced the position that an amendment to the trust allowed the trustee to make said payments. The subject trust had two original settlors, and Mr.

Brock contends that any attempt to amend the trust after the death of one of the settlors is void *ab initio*. The District Court found that because the purported amendment that abrogated the terms of the spendthrift provision was based upon agreement between one of the settlors and the affected beneficiary, the amendment was valid. Accordingly, the District Court reached a decision on April 14, 2015, and held as follows:

- 1) Denied Appellant's Petition to Construe the Terms of the Trust, Confirm Removal of Trustee, Compel Redress of Breach of Fiduciary Duties, and Release Jurisdiction of the Trust;
- 2) Granted an order ratifying the 2009 reformation and modification of the spendthrift provision;
- 3) Found that Appellant is judicially estopped from claiming the 2010 settlement is void; and
- 4) Denied claims that Premier Trust violated its fiduciary duties.

Mr. Brock filed Notice of Appeal on May 14, 2015.

STATEMENT OF FACTS

- 1) Emil Frei, III ("Dr. Frei"), and Adoria B. Frei ("Adoria") (collectively, the "Settlors") created the irrevocable subject trust on October 29, 1996 (the "Trust"). See Trust Art. 1 § 1-4, Exhibit 10.1.
- 2) In four separate provisions of the trust instrument, the Settlors designated the trust irrevocable, and specifically withheld "any power to control and direct

- payments, remove trust property, or alter, amend, revoke, or terminate this trust, either in whole or in part." *Id*.
- 3) The Settlors designated Emil Frei, IV, and Peter Augustine Brock as the initial trustees of the Trust. See Trust Art. 1 § 1, Exhibit 10.1.
- 4) At some point thereafter, the Settlors transferred their interest in a joint survivor life insurance policy, through Transamerica Insurance and Investment Group (the "Transamerica policy"), to the Trust. See Exhibit 13.4 at FIT 00459.
- 5) The Transamerica policy insured the joint lives of Dr. Frei and Adoria with a face amount death benefit of \$7,000,000. *Id.*
- 6) The Settlors designated their ten children as the beneficiaries of the Trust (five of the children are Dr. Frei's children, and five of the children are Adoria's children). See Trust Art. 3 § 1, Exhibit 10.1.
- 7) On January 28, 2009, Adoria died. Leaving the only surviving settlor Dr. Frei. See Findings of Fact, Paragraph 6, Exhibit 19.
- 8) On March 11, 2009, Mr. Brock filed a petition to confirm the Trustees of the FREI Irrevocable Trust and to reform terms of the Trust.
- 9) The District Court took jurisdiction over the Trust, and an order was entered on June 12, 2009 reforming the terms of the Trust. See Exhibit 6.A.

- 1) In particular, the court reformed Article Seven, Section One of the Trust, which provided for the distribution of the Trust upon the death of the surviving Settlor. See Findings of Fact, Paragraph 8, Exhibit 19. The court replaced the redundant provisions of the original Article Seven, Section One, with a uniform provision that applied to all beneficiaries of the Trust. See Exhibit 6.A at FIT 00101-00102.
- 2) The majority of the reformed Article Seven, Section One is essentially identical in function to the original provision. However, allowed the beneficiaries to elect in writing, to require the trustees to terminate that beneficiary's share of the Trust, and to then distribute all of the net income and principal of that beneficiary's share of the Trust outright and free of trust. See reformed Article Seven, § 1.a., as set forth in June 12, 2009, Order, at *Id*.
- 3) According to the modification, if the beneficiary does not provide such a written election, the trustees are to continue to hold the Trust share for the beneficiary, and administer and distribute the Trust share as set forth in the remaining provisions of Section 1 of Article Seven. *Id*.
- 4) Nothing in the record indicates that consent of all the beneficiaries was given for this modification.

- 5) On September 14, 2009, Premier Trust Inc. ("Premier") replaced Emil Frei, IV as trustee of the Trust by executing a written Acceptance of Trustee. See Findings of Fact, Paragraph 10, Exhibit 19.
- At the same time this modification of the Trust was being handled, Mr. Brock was involved in other litigation. (See A-09-588750-C, A-10-A609292-C and A-10-607772-C). While the allegations varied between these cases, all the cases arise out of Mr. Brock's use of funds from another, separate trust, the Adoria Frei Trust, of which Mr. Brock was the trustee. See Exhibit 6.D.
- While Mr. Brock's was not found to have engaged in an wrongdoing, through settlement, Mr. Brock agreed to pay the amounts of \$175,000, \$150,000 and \$90,000, plus the prime rate of interest, over the course of three years, in \$5,000 installments a month. See Findings of Fact, Paragraph 14(i), Exhibit 19.
- 8) This amount was to be secured by Mr. Brock's interest in the new modified Trust which Mr. Brock could not disclaim. *Id*.
- 9) At the time of the 2010 settlement, Dr. Frei was still alive, and therefore, Mr. Brock lacked the right to demand distribution of income or principal from the Trust, as any demand for payment could only come <u>after</u> the death of Dr. Frei. See Exhibit 6.D. at FIT 00101.

- 10) Dr. Frei died on April 30, 2013. Following Dr. Frei's death, the trustees of the Trust obtained the proceeds from the Transamerica policy with a total death benefit of approximately \$7.5 million. See Exhibit 19.
- 11) Upon information and belief, following Dr. Frei's death, all nine of the other beneficiaries of the Trust, except Mr. Brock, elected to receive distribution in full of their respective shares of the Trust, or have received the distribution at the discretion of the trustees.
- 12) Mr. Brock has not elected to receive distribution in full of his respective share of the Trust. Thus, Petitioner's share of the trust assets remains in the Trust, to be held, administered, and distributed pursuant to the terms of Article Seven, Section 1 of the Trust (as reformed).
- 13) Premier has paid over \$300,000, without Mr. Brock's consent or knowledge, from Mr. Brock's share of the Trust to his purported creditors. See Findings of Fact, Paragraph 21, Exhibit 19.
- 14) In response, Mr. Brock filed this instant action to have the \$300,000 returned to the Trust, to have Respondent removed as trustee of the Trust, and to compel Respondent to pay any damages the court deems necessary for their Breach of Fiduciary duty to Mr. Brock.
- 15) The underlying District Court case was heard on Mr. Brock's petition, and on April, 14, 2015, in a final order, found that Respondent did not breach any

fiduciary duty to Mr. Brock, and that Respondents could rely on the doctrine of *judicial estoppel* regarding Mr. Brock's position in the settlement agreement. See Exhibit 21.

16) Mr. Brock filed his notice of appeal on May 14, 2015, within the 30-day timeliness restriction, pursuant to NRAP 4(a).

SUMMARY OF THE ARGUMENT

The 2009 modification and 2010 Settlement Agreement directly violated the explicit terms of the Trust, in addition to the well-established law of irrevocable trusts and spendthrift trusts. Based on the language of the trust instrument, and relevant case law and statutory provisions, the 2010 modification of the Trust is void.

The Frei Trust was explicitly irrevocable from its inception, and the power to amend, revoke, or terminate any portion of the trust was expressly denied to the Settlors. Under the Nevada Supreme Court's own precedent, and the relevant provisions of NRS 163, the clear intent of the Settlors was to create an irrevocable trust that could not be modified. When Dr. Frei entered into the 2010 settlement agreement, he acted solely as a creditor. His role as a settlor was now without any legal significant. As such, the 2009 modification of the Trust was improper.

Even under the narrow, limited exceptions that allow for modification of an irrevocable trust, the 2009 modification lacked the requisite consent from all

beneficiaries. Moreover, the 2009 modification attempted to remove the spendthrift provision of the Trust, which would defeat a material purpose of the Trust as indicated by the language of the Trust instrument. Therefore, the 2010 modification of the Trust is void.

Finally, the spendthrift provision of the Trust expressly prohibits the action taken by Dr. Frei in the 2009 modification and Settlement Agreement. As the trust instrument specifies that the trust property is protected from "the claims of *any* creditors," the 2010 modification would have been directly contrary to the terms of the trust. Furthermore, the provisions of NRS 166 clearly establish that a valid spendthrift trust bars exactly the type of modification that Dr. Frei sought, as a creditor, to effectuate in 2010. Accordingly, the 2010 modification is, and always has been void.

The doctrine of judicial estoppel is not applicable to the present case because Mr. Brock did not act wrongfully or in bad faith. All of Mr. Brock's actions were taken in accordance with advice from his counsel at the time. The complete lack of wrongdoing or bad faith motive renders judicial estoppel inapplicable to the case at bar.

Premier violated its fiduciary duties by distributing Trust assets to Mr. Brock's creditor. According to the language in the trust instrument, Premier's duties as trustee included protecting the beneficiaries' interest from claims by any creditors.

Additionally, NRS 166 articulates that any distributions made contrary to the spendthrift provision, and not within the settlor's powers under the Trust, are a violation of the trustee's duties. In fact, the trustees have a duty to "defend and defeat" any attempts to do so under NRS 166. Therefore, Premier's distributions of the Trust assets to Dr. Frei constitute a breach of its fiduciary duties to Mr. Brock.

STANDARD OF REVIEW

In probate matters, any question of statutory interpretation or purely legal question is reviewed *de novo*. *Waldman v. Maini*, 195 P.3d 850, 856 (Nev. 2008). In this case, a question of law is presented in how an irrevocable trust with a spendthrift provision can be modified. This question should be addressed *de novo*. Application of judicial estoppel is also a question of law, and accordingly, this Court should review that issue *de novo*. *Marcuse v. Del Webb Cmtys.*, *Inc.*, 163 P.3d 462, 468 (Nev. 2007). Whether Premier violated their fiduciary duty to Mr. Brock is a question of fact on which the Court can overturn the District Court's Findings of Fact if this Court determines they are completely erroneous. *See Lopez v. Corral*, 2010 Nev. LEXIS 69, *5 (Nev. Dec. 20, 2010).

. . .

. . .

. . .

ARGUMENT

I. The 2010 Modification of the Trust is Void Because the Trust is Irrevocable by its Own Explicit Terms, the Attempted Modification did not Comport with the Requirements of Such a Modification, and the Spendthrift Provision Specifically Prohibits the Action Taken with the 2010 Modification.

This case involves the modification of an irrevocable trust with a spendthrift clause. The irrevocable nature of the Trust prohibited the Settlors from claiming any interest in the Trust, or amending, revoking, or terminating the trust. Moreover, the requirements for modification, in the narrow exceptions that allow for the modification of an irrevocable Trust, were not met by the 2010 modification. And even if the 2010 modification is deemed acceptable, the spendthrift provision of the trust specifically bars the action taken, by Mr. Brock and Dr. Frei, in attempting to execute the 2010 modification and Settlement Agreement, thereby rendering both void.

A. The unambiguous language of the Settlors explicitly made the Trust irrevocable, and as such, not susceptible to modification or amendment.

The trust at issue in this case is an irrevocable, inter vivos trust. Thus, even if the settlor and the beneficiary are the same person, the trust is deemed irrevocable for "all purposes." Nev. Rev. Stat. Ann. § 163.560. See also *Monzo v. Eighth Judicial*

Dist. Court of Nev. (In re Irrevocable Tr. Agreement of 1979), 331 P.3d 881, 886 (Nev. 2014).

In determining whether a trust is irrevocable, the Nevada Supreme Court has held that "it is axiomatic in trust law that the Court is required to ascertain and enforce the intent of the settlors." *See Concannon v. Winship*, 581 P.2d 11, 13 (Nev. 1978) (stating that a court's primary aim in construing a testamentary document is "to give effect ... to the intentions of the testator") (internal citations omitted).

Additionally, Nevada's relevant statutory provisions further enforce that a settlor's unambiguous creation of an irrevocable trust will receive great deference from the court. Nev. Rev. Stat. Ann. § 163.004. Specifically, NRS 163 definitively establishes that an otherwise irrevocable trust will only be construed as revocable where the settlor expressly reserves a right to amend or revoke the trust. *Id.* Moreover, when the language of the trust instrument specifically declares the trust irrevocable, it shall not be construed as revocable, regardless of the relationship between the settlor and the beneficiary. Nev. Rev. Stat. Ann. § 163.560.

Here, the explicit language employed by the Settlors, in the trust instrument, leaves no question that the Trust is, and always has been, irrevocable. All four provisions of Article One of the trust instrument expressly identify the Trust as irrevocable. The third provision of Article One goes on to define the Trust as "An Irrevocable Trust" in its title, and specifically withholds from either Settlor "any

power to control and direct payments, remove trust property, or alter, amend, revoke, or terminate this trust, either in whole or in part." Moreover, the fourth provision of Article One specifies that after the execution of the trust agreement, the Settlors "shall have no right, title interest, power, incident of ownership, or any other benefit in any trust property." This language informed the District Court's finding, as explicitly stated in its Findings of Fact, that the Trust was "irrevocable from its inception."

Based on the unambiguous language used in the trust instrument, and the fact that the Settlors reiterated throughout the trust instrument that the trust was to be irrevocable, there can be no dispute that the Settlors intended to create an irrevocable trust, and withhold any ability to revoke or amend. Accordingly, based on the Supreme Court's decisions, and the relevant statutory provisions, the attempted 2010 modification was a blatant violation of the express intent of the Settlors and the nature of the Trust.

B. The 2010 modification of the Trust lacked the requisite consent of all beneficiaries, and defeated a material purpose of the Trust, and accordingly, is void.

An irrevocable trust can be modified under very limited circumstances, however, the Nevada Courts have not established clear guidelines with regards to these modifications. NRS 164 states that when all of the beneficiaries agree to a modification of an irrevocable trust, such modification is allowable if it "is not

inconsistent with a material purpose of the trust." Nev. Rev. Stat. Ann. § 164 [2015, ch. 524, § 61]. If such a modification would be inconsistent with the trust, then modification must be made with the settlor's consent. *Id.* Alternatively, if a settlor is deceased, then the beneficiaries may only enact a modification by order of the court. Restat 3d of Trusts, § 65 (2012). It is important to note that **this modification can only be approved by the Court if the Court determines that the reason for modification outweighs the material purpose.** *Id.* **Consistent with the Restatement of Trust, this Court has held that a sole beneficiary may terminate a trust before its expiration date only if continuation of the trust is not necessary to carry out a material purpose.** *Ambrose v. First Nat'l Bank***, 482 P.2d 828, 829 (Nev. 1971).**

The case herein, presents an issue of first impression in regards to what standards needs be applied in regards to the death of a single settlor when the creation of a trust was made by multiple settlors. The language of the Restatement of Trusts reads, "if the settlor and all of the beneficiaries of a trust consent [...] they can compel the termination or modification of the trust." *Restat. 2d of Trusts*, § 338 (2012). The language, "the settlor and all of the beneficiaries" implies that modifications of a trust require unanimous consent. This is the only interpretation that ensures that the intent of the deceased settlor will be executed according to her wishes, thereby avoiding the potential for a surviving settlor to completely disregard the intentions of the deceased settlor. In support of this interpretation, at least one

jurisdiction has clarified that the death of a settlor makes an irrevocable trust unmodifiable, even with the consent of all beneficiaries. *Neeley v. Neeley*, 996 P.2d 346, 348 (Kan. Ct. App. 2000). In *Neely*, the court articulated, "[the settlor] reserve[s] the right to modify and terminate the trust. Once he die[s], however, the trust [becomes] irrevocable and unmodifiable, and the consent of all the beneficiaries is insufficient to modify the trust." *Id*.

The Trust could have only been modified with consent of *all* of the beneficiaries, and approval of the Court, and even then, only if the material purpose of the Trust was still accomplished after the modification. No modification of the Trust could be done with unanimous settlor consent, as only Dr. Frie was alive. Thus, any modification required the approval of the Court, consent of all of the beneficiaries, and a showing that the modification would not defeat the material purpose of the Trust. The modification in this case did not satisfy the aforementioned requirements, and therefore, is void.

First, the record indicates that only one beneficiary, Mr. Brock, approved of the modification of the Trust. See Probate Commissioner's Report and Recommendation Regarding Petition for Order Reforming Terms of Trust, attached hereto as Exhibit 6.A. The Probate Commissioner's report does state that "the only objection raised by any party to the reformation of the Trust was Dr. Frei's allegation

that this Court did not have jurisdiction over the Trust. *Id.* at 3:14-16. However, failure to object does not equate to affirmative approval as required by Nevada law.

Next, the District Court did not properly consider if the modification defeated a material purpose of the Trust. As established by *Ambrose*, a modification of an irrevocable trust is void when such a modification would defeat the trust's material purpose. *Ambrose*, 482 P.2d at 829. One material purpose of the Trust herein is the spendthrift provision, which protects the Trust corpus from financial improvidence of the beneficiary. As demonstrated by Premier, without the spendthrift clause, Mr. Brock's creditors would seize all of the assets in the Trust, potentially including assets that Mr. Brock himself would not have access to. Based on the fact that the Court did not consider if a material purpose of the Trust would have been defeated, and if the Court had, they would have seen that the spendthrift provision was defeated by the modification, such modification is void.

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