SUPREME COURT OF THE STATE OF NEVADA

IN THE MATTER OF THE FREI IRREVOCABLE TRUST DATED OCTOBER 29, 1996

Supreme Court No. 68029 Electronically Filed

Feb 24 2016 11:49 a.m. Tracie K. Lindeman

District Court No. POPR 6525 Up Feme Court

STEPHEN BROCK

Appellant,

v.

1

2

3

4

5

6

7

8

9

10

11

15

16

17

18

19

20

21

22

23

24

25

26

27

28

PREMIER TRUST, INC.; LAWRENCE HOWE; AND ELIZABETH MARY FREI,

Respondents.

RESPONDENT PREMIER TRUST, INC.'S AMENDED ANSWERING BRIEF

APPEAL FROM THE EIGHTH JUDICIAL DISTRICT COURT HONORABLE GLORIA STURMAN DEPT. 26

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

¹² See Part VII.A.8 of this Answering Brief above.

2450 St. Rose Parkway, Suite 200 Henderson, Nevada 89074 1

3

4

5

6

7

8

10

11

0004-967 13

. 2 14

15

16

17

18

19

20

21

22

23

25

26

27

28

Had the spendthrift clause been a material purpose of the Trust, Dr. Frei would have opposed Stephen's 2009 Petition that resulted in the First Amendment, allowing the Trust beneficiaries to simply make a written request to withdraw their entire beneficial interest in the Trust following Dr. Frei's death. As is demonstrated below in this Answering Brief, the right of withdrawal provided to the Trust beneficiaries through the First Amendment had the defacto effect of nullifying the Trust's spendthrift protection.¹³

Under the clear majority view, the existence of a spendthrift provision alone is insufficient to consider such a provision to be a material purpose of the Trust, and obviously in this case neither the Settlor nor Probate Commissioner Yamashita considered it to be a material purpose or the First Amendment would never have been permitted and the Second Amendment would never have been confirmed with a Court order entered by both the Probate Commissioner and the Probate Judge.

The District Court had authority to modify the Frei Trust even if a material purpose of the Trust ii. was at issue

Although no Nevada law exists on this issue, the laws of other states and the Restatement clearly allow a court to modify an irrevocable trust without having to consider whether the modification would violate a material purpose of the trust.

For example, California law states that:

If the continuance of the trust is necessary to carry out a material purpose of the trust, the trust cannot be modified or terminated unless the court, in its discretion, determines that the reason for doing so under the circumstances outweighs the interest in accomplishing a material purpose of the trust...

Cal. Prob. Code § 15403(b) (emphasis added).

¹³ See Part VII.B of this Answering Brief below.

	2	
	3	
	4	
	5	
	6	
	7	
(702) 796-4000	8	
	9	
	10	
	11	
	12	
	13	
	14	
	15	
	16	
	17	
	18	
	19	
	20	
	21	
	22	
	23	
	24	
		۱

26

27

28

1

Similarly, as noted earlier above, the Third Restatement of Trusts states that:

- (1) Except as stated in Subsection (2), if all of the beneficiaries of an irrevocable trust consent, they can compel the termination or modification of the trust.
- (2) If termination or modification of the trust under Subsection (1) would be inconsistent with a material purpose of the trust, the beneficiaries cannot compel its termination or modification except with the consent of the settlor, or, after the settlor's death, with authorization of the court if it determines that the reason(s) for termination or modification outweigh the material purpose.

Restatement (Third) of Trusts § 65 (2003) (emphasis added). Significantly, the Third Restatement of Trusts encourages a court-based modification of an irrevocable trust when such a modification would facilitate the settlement of litigation:

The fact that the beneficiaries could not terminate a trust because to do so would be inconsistent with a material purpose of the settlor does not preclude the court from approving a compromise under which a part of the trust would be terminated in order to settle a bonafide contest of the will that would create the trust or settle bonafide litigation challenging the litigation of an inter vivos trust.

Restatement (Third) of Trusts § 65 cmt h (2003). This is exactly what happened with the Settlement between Stephen and Dr. Frei. Therefore, even if a material purpose was threatened due to the Settlement, the courts that approved the Settlement had the right to overrule that material purpose.

B. STEPHEN'S RIGHT OF WITHDRAWAL ARISING FROM THE FIRST AMENDMENT NULLIFIED ANY SPENDTHRIFT PROTECTIONS HE MAY HAVE OTHERWISE HAD AS A BENEFICIARY OF THE TRUST

Although Nevada law recognizes the validity of spendthrift provisions in a trust, the spendthrift protections are not unlimited. The Second Restatement of Trusts states, in relevant part, that:

If the beneficiary is entitled to have the principal conveyed to him immediately, a restraint on the voluntary or involuntary transfer of his interest in the principal is invalid.

2450 St. Rose Parkway, Suite 200 Henderson, Nevada 89074 3

4

5

6

7

8

10

11

000⁴-96 13

14

15

16

17

18

19

20

21

22

26

27

28

Restatement (Second) of Trusts § 153(2) (1959). An illustration in a comment to Section 153(2) of the Second Restatement further explains the purposes of this section:

A transfers Blackacre to B in trust to hold Blackacre for the benefit of C and to convey it to C whenever C shall demand a conveyance. By the terms of the trust it is provided that C's interest shall not be transferable by him and that his creditors cannot reach it. The restraint on alienation is invalid and C can transfer his interest and his creditors can reach it.

Id., cmt. c, illustration 4.

Many courts across the country have sided with the rule promulgated by Section 153(2) of the Second Restatement of Trusts. See, e.g., In re Hannegan, 155 B.R. 209, 214 (Bankr. E.D. Mo. 1993) ("The issue is not whether the trust beneficiary has tried to exercise dominion and control over the trust proceeds but, rather, whether under the terms of the trust instrument he has the power to exercise dominion or control over the trust."); Miller v. Kresser, 34 So. 3d 172, 175 (Fla. App. 2010) ("If the trust allows the beneficiary to control all of the trust assets by terminating the trust or demanding distribution of the entire trust corpus, a court will allow the beneficiary's creditor to reach the entire trust corpus"); Lunkes v. Gecker, 427 B.R. 425, 431 (N.D. Ill 2010) (quoting In re McCoy, 274 B.R. 751, 763 (Bankr. N.D. Ill 2002)) ("A trust cannot be a valid spendthrift trust if the beneficiary is entitled to have the principal conveyed to him immediately"); *Morrison v. Doyle*, 570 N.W.2d 692, 697 (Minn. App. 1997) (citing Restatement (Second) of Trusts § 153(2) (1959)) ("[I]f the beneficiary is entitled to receive the principal of the trust immediately, a restraint on the voluntary or involuntary transfer of the beneficiary's interest in the principal is invalid."); In re Mitchell, 423 B.R. 758 (Bankr. E.D. Wis. 2009) ("[The Second Restatement of Trusts § 153(2)] is precise. It means that, where a beneficiary is entitled to immediate payment of principal upon demand, a restraint on a transfer of principal, whether such transfer is voluntary or involuntary, invalidates the entire spendthrift provision."); In re Marble, 136 Me. 52, 1 A.2d

000⁴-96

355 (1938) (beneficiary, acquiescing in payment of income not authorized by trust, estopped).¹⁴

Here, Stephen, by and through his attorney, Daniel Goodsell, Esq., sought for and obtained the First Amendment through the June 2009 Order. As noted previously, that order states, in relevant part, that:

Upon an election in writing by any child of ours delivered to our Trustee, the trust share set aside for such child shall forthwith terminate and our Trustee shall distribute all undistributed net income and principal to such child outright and free of the trust.

(See RA PT 00264) (relevant part of the June 2009 Order).

Under the terms of the First Amendment Order, Stephen, as a beneficiary of the Trust, is entitled to have the principal of the Trust conveyed to him immediately. The fact that Stephen has not exercised his rights under the First Amendment is irrelevant and, pursuant to the Second Restatement of Trusts § 153(2), the spendthrift protections of the Trust are invalid and offer no protection to Stephen from his creditors.

In summary, the spendthrift protections of N.R.S. Chapter 166 that Stephen argues he is entitled to simply don't apply to him as a beneficiary of the Trust and he had every right to assign and transfer his beneficial interest in the Trust under the Settlement before Judge Cory on March 31, 2010 and later confirmed again by the June 2010 Order of Commissioner Yamashita.

Because the spendthrift protection of the Trust no longer apply to Stephen, and because the June 2010 Order has never been rescinded, Premier Trust is bound to follow the terms of the June 2010 Order and pay Stephen's creditor, which is Dr. Frei (through his trust following his death) from Stephen's portion of the Trust funds.

¹⁴ See also In re Kaplan, 97 B.R. 572, 577 (9th Cir. BAP 1989); Croom v. Ocala Plumbing & Elec. Co., 62 Fla. 460, 57 So. 243, 244 (1911).

000⁴-96

.

C. THE DOCTRINE OF JUDICIAL ESTOPPEL BARS STEPHEN FROM ARGUING THAT THE SETTLEMENT IS INVALID

1. The Doctrine Of Judicial Estoppel In Nevada

Nevada recognizes the doctrine of judicial estoppel. *See, e.g., Marcuse v. Del Webb Communities, Inc.*, 163 P.3d 462, 123 Nev. 278 (2007). According to the doctrine, a party who has "stated an oath in a prior proceeding, as in a pleading, that a given fact is true, may not be allowed to deny the same fact in a subsequent action." *Vaile v. Dist. Ct.*, 44 P.3d 506, 514, 118 Nev. 262 (2002) (quoting *Sterling Builders, Inc. v. Fuhrman*, 80 Nev. 543, 549-50, 396 P.2d 850, 854 (1964)). One of the primary purposes of judicial estoppel is to prevent a party from deliberately shifting their position to "suit the requirements of another case concerning the same subject matter." *Id.*

The application of judicial estoppel is a question of law. *Marcuse v. Del Webb Communities, Inc.*, 163 P.3d 462, 468, 123 Nev. 278 (2007). There are five elements to the doctrine:

- 1. A party has taken two positions;
- 2. The positions were taken in judicial or quasi-judicial administrative proceedings;
- 3. The party was successful in asserting the first position (i.e., the court adopted the position or accepted it as true);
- 4. The two positions are totally inconsistent; and
- 5. The first position was not taken as a result of fraud or mistake.

Id. (citing *NOLM*, *LLC v. County of Clark*, 100 P.3d 648, 663, 120 Nev. 736, 743 (2004)). A party asserting judicial estoppel does not need to show all of these elements exist to successfully assert the doctrine. *Mainor v. Nault*, 101 P.3d 308, 120 Nev. 750, 765 (2004) ("Although not all of these elements are always necessary, the doctrine generally applies when...").

2450 St. Rose Parkway, Suite 200 Henderson, Nevada 89074 00⁴-96 13 Ê 14

1

3

4

5

7

8

10

11

16

17

18

19

20

21

22

A party may be estopped under the doctrine of judicial estoppel "merely by the fact of having alleged or admitted in his pleadings or former pleadings the contrary of the assertion sought to be made." Breliant v. Preferred Equities Corp., 918 P.2d 314, 317, 112 Nev. 663, 668 (1996) (quoting Sterling Builders, Inc., 80 Nev. at 549, 396 P.2d at 854). The "mistake" portion of the fifth element of judicial estoppel is for mistakes of fact only, not mistakes of law. Vaile v. Dist. Ct., 44 P.3d at 514 (quoting Sterling Builders, Inc., 80 Nev. at 549-50, 396 P.2d at 854 ("according to the rule of judicial estoppel, a party who has stated an oath in a prior proceeding, 'as in a pleading,' that a given fact is true may not be allowed to deny the same fact in a subsequent action")).

<u>Judicial Estoppel Applies Against Stephen Brock Under the Facts And Circumstances Of This Case</u> 2.

In June 2009, Stephen filed the 2009 Petition through which Stephen sought to modify the terms of the Trust to permit him to withdraw all of his beneficial interest at any time by simply making a request to the trustee. This was done so that once Dr. Frei had died and the life insurance proceeds had funded the Trust, Stephen could control when his share of the money would be distributed to him. The 2009 Petition was filed after the death of Mrs. Frei, with only one of the two settlors still alive. The 2009 Petition was seeking to modify the very irrevocable trust Stephen is now claiming cannot be modified. The 2009 Petition claimed that Probate Court had jurisdiction and the authority to modify the Trust. As a result of the 2009 Petition, the Probate Court permitted this irrevocable Trust to be modified, effectively stripping the spendthrift provision protection from creditors. Neither Dr. Frei nor any of the beneficiaries objected to this modification.

27

26

25

2450 St. Rose Parkway, Suite 200

Henderson, Nevada 89074

1

3

4

5

7

8

10

11

000⁴-96 13

. 2 14

16

17

18

19

20

21

22

24

25

Nothing had changed less than one year later when Stephen again sought to modify the Trust through the Settlement. The only way the Settlement could be reached was if Stephen pledged his interest in the Trust to insure that the Settlement payments were made. The Settlement effected a modification of the Trust by permitting a transfer of the Stephen's beneficial interest as security for the Settlement. The Settlement was placed on the record before Judge Cory with a representation by Stephen and his attorney that this Settlement was something he consented to and could and would perform. The Settlement was again confirmed in the June 2010 Order from Commissioner Yamashita and Judge Sturman, effectively modifying the Trust by judicial order.

In comparing this proceeding to the 2009 Petition and the 2010 Settlement the stark contrast between Stephen's positions is apparent: (i) Stephen has taken a second, and opposite position from the position he took in two different judicial proceedings in 2009 (before Commissioner Yamashita) and 2010 (before Judge Cory and Commissioner Yamashita), (ii) the first positions taken in 2009 and 2010 were both made in judicial proceedings, (iii) Stephen was successful in amending the Trust through the June 2009 Petition and subsequent Order, and Stephen willfully entered into the 2010 Settlement (through another attorney of Stephen's, Dana Dwiggins, Esq.) by taking the position, before Judge Cory and Commissioner Yamashita, that he could pledge his beneficial interest in the Trust, (iv) the position taken by Stephen during the 2009 and 2010 proceedings is wholly opposite and contrary to the position taken by Stephen now during this appeal, and (v) Stephen did not enter into the 2009 and 2010 amendments due to any fraud or mistake.

District Court Judge Gloria Sturman came to the exact same conclusion in her April 2015 Order that Stephen has now appealed to this Court. (AA FIT 00710). To quote from Judge Sturman:

1

2

3

5

6

7

8

10

11

000⁴-96 13

<u>2</u>14

15

16

17

18

19

20

21

22

23

24

25

27

28

Dr. Frei justifiably relied upon Stephen's covenants and promises made in the Settlement, including Stephen's agreement to pledge his full beneficial interest in the Trust as security in the event he failed to fully pay the [funds owed to Dr. Frei as a result of the Settlement].

The justifiable reliance by Dr. Frei in entering into the Settlement with Stephen judicially estops Stephen and the arguments he has made before this Court. The doctrine of judicial estoppel exists to prevent a party from taking a benefit of settling a case, telling four judges you want to settle, and then later try to void those settlements. To allow Stephen to void the Settlement would completely disregard his former promises to Dr. Frei. Therefore, Stephen cannot argue the Trust could not be amended through the 2010 Settlement.

(See the District Court's April 2015 Order at p. 8, lines 1-9 at AA FIT 00711).

Stephen has argued to this Court that judicial estoppel should not apply to his situation because the Settlement was a result of "...abusive counsel..." *See* Appellant's Opening Brief at p. 20. Judicial estoppel does not consider the relationship between an attorney and client, and there is no evidence that Stephen was defrauded or that he did not understand what he was promising to do. Quite to the contrary, Judge Cory and Commissioner Yamashita both required an acknowledgment by Stephen that he fully understood the Settlement and that he had agreed to pledge his beneficial interest in the Trust to accomplish the Settlement.

Stephen's appeal to this Court fails because his arguments are barred by the doctrine of judicial estoppel. You simply cannot take one legal position when it benefits you and then take the exact opposite position when you no longer wish to be bound to your agreements.

D. STEPHEN IS TIME BARRED FROM SEEKING TO MODIFY THE JUNE 2009 ORDER OR THE 2010 SETTLEMENT

This Court has previously held that once a final judgment has been entered, a district court lacks jurisdiction to reopen the matter unless a timely motion is made under the Nevada Rules of Civil Procedure. *SFPP, L.P. v. Dist. Ct.*, 173 P.3d 715, 717, 123 Nev. 608, 612 (2007) (citing *Greene v. Dist. Ct.*, 990

2450 St. Rose Parkway, Suite 200 Henderson, Nevada 89074 000⁴-96 13 <u>2</u>14

3

4

5

7

8

10

11

15

16

17

18

19

20

21

22

24

25

26

27

28

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